
 
 

CITY OF LAKE GENEVA 
626 GENEVA STREET 
LAKE GENEVA, WI 

 
PLAN COMMISSION MEETING 

MONDAY SEPTEMBER 17, 2018 - 6:00 PM 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS, CITY HALL 

Amended Agenda 
 
            
 

1. Meeting called to order by Tom Hartz. 
 

2. Roll Call. 
 

3. Approve Minutes of the August 20th Plan Commission meeting as distributed. 
  

4. Comments from the public as allowed by Wis. Stats. §19.84(2), limited to items on this 
agenda, except for public hearing items.  Comments will be limited to five (5) minutes. 
 

5. Acknowledgment of Correspondence. 
 

6. Downtown Design Review:  
 

a. Application filed by Eric Dawson, 39230 93rd St., Genoa City, WI 53128, for a 
request to renovate the front exterior façade of the business located at 260 Broad 
Street, in the Central Business (CB) zoning district, Tax Key No. ZOP00245. 
 

b. Application filed by 503 Broad Street LLC, Lake Geneva, WI 53145, to paint the 
front of the building located at 503 Broad St, in the Central Business (CB) zoning 
district, Tax Key No. ZOP00030. 

 
7. Public Hearing and Recommendation of a Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) filed by 

1111 N. Edwards Blvd LLC, 5701 Weatherstone Way, Johnsburg, IL 60050, for the new 
construction of a 4 story Marriott Fairfield Hotel, located at the South East corner of the 
Sheridan Springs Rd and North Edwards Blvd intersection adjacent to the State Highway 
12 corridor, located in the Planned Industrial (PI) zoning district, Tax Key Nos. 
ZA468000003 & ZA468000004. 
 

8. Discussion Only Item: Applicant, House Around the Corner LLC, 3389 South Shore Dr. 
Delavan, WI, 53115, proposes to raze the existing building at 832 Geneva St and 
construct a new 5,154 square foot, 2-story, commercial building, located within the 
Central Business (CB) zoning district, Tax Key No. ZOP000252. 

Omitted item 10 – Amendment to the 
Ordinance 18-3 for the Tourist Rooming 
House 



 
9. Summary of September 5, 2018 Public Workshop on Comprehensive Plan Amendments. 

 
10. Mayoral notice of the October 15th meeting will be a Joint Meeting with City Council and 

Plan Commission to occur at 5 p.m. The regular Plan Commission Meeting will 
commence after the Joint Meeting ends or 6 p.m. 

 
11. Adjournment 

 
 

 
QUORUM OF CITY COUNCIL MEMBERS MAY BE PRESENT 

Requests from persons with disabilities, who need assistance in order to participate in this meeting, should be made to the City Clerk's office, in order for appropriate 

Accommodations. 

Posted 9/13/2018 
 
 



1 of 3 
August 20, 2018 Plan Commission Minutes 
 

PLAN COMMISSION MEETING 
MONDAY, AUGUST 20, 2018 – 6:00 PM 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS, CITY HALL 
 
Mayor Hartz called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m.  
 
Roll Call.  Present: Mayor Hartz, Alderman Doug Skates, Ted Horne, Ann Esarco, Michael Krajovic. Absent (Excused): 
City Planner Slavney, Sarah Hill, John Gibbs. Also Present: City Planner Assistant Mich, City Attorney Draper, Building 
and Zoning Administrator Walling, Building & Zoning Administrative Assistant Follensbee. 
 
Approve Minutes of the July 16th Plan Commission meeting as distributed.  
Skates/Horne motion to approve.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Comments from the public as allowed by Wis. Stats. §19.84(2), limited to items on this agenda, except for public 
hearing items. Comments will be limited to 5 minutes.  
None. 
 
Acknowledgement of Correspondence. 
None. 
 
Downtown Design Review 
 
6.a. Application filed by Thomas George, for a request to install an awning on the building, located in the Central 

Business (CB) zoning district at 741 W. Main Street, Tax Key No. ZOP00272. 
 Thomas George, 741 Main Street, presented his request. Zoning Administrator Walling verified the awning meets the 

zoning requirements. 
 
Horne/Skates motion to approve the awning and include all staff recommendations. 
Roll Call:  Hartz, Skates, Horne, Esarco, Krajovic voting “yes.”  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
6.b. Application filed by Venture Investment Partners LLP, 751 Lake Geneva Pkwy, Lake Geneva, WI  53147, for 

a request to install an awning on the building, located in the Central Business (CB) zoning district at 201 
Broad Street, Tax Key No. ZOP00267. 

 Roger Wolff, 751 Geneva Pkwy, presented his request. Walling said the awning meets all zoning requirements. 
 
Krajovic/Esarco motion to approve the awning and include all staff recommendations. 
Roll Call:  Hartz, Skates, Horne, Esarco, Krajovic voting “yes.”  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
6.c. Application filed by Carrie Casper, 483 W. South Street, Lake Geneva, WI 53147, for a request to install on 

building signage, located in the Central Business (CB) zoning district at 647 W. Main Street, Tax Key No. 
ZOP00287. 

 Carrie Casper, 483 W. South Street, presented her request. Walling said both signs comply with the zoning 
requirements. 

 
Skates/Horne motion to approve the awning and include all staff recommendations. 
Roll Call:  Hartz, Skates, Horne, Esarco, Krajovic voting “yes.”  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
6.d. Application filed by Mellisa Todd, W1385 Oakwood Rd Genoa City WI  53128, for a request to install an on 

building sign, located in the Central Business (CB) zoning district at 253 Center Street Suite #700 for the 
Geneva Hair Lounge, Tax Key No. ZOP00282.  

 Mellisa Todd, W1385 Oakwood Rd, Genoa City, and Meghann Bybee, 606 Water St, Lyons, presented their request. 
 Walling stated the sign meets the ordinance requirements 
 
 



2 of 3 
August 20, 2018 Plan Commission Minutes 
 

Skates/Horne motion to approve the sign and include all staff recommendations. 
Roll Call:  Hartz, Skates, Horne, Esarco, Krajovic voting “yes.”  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
7. Public Hearing and Recommendation of a Conditional Use Permit filed by Lake Geneva 50120 LLC, 3000 

Dundee Rd #408, Northbrook, IL 60062, for the proposed Indoor Commercial Entertainment Land Use that 
would allow for the Mod Pizza to be located at 281 Edwards Blvd, Unit C, in the Planned Development (PD) 
zoning district Tax Key No. ZA297300001. 

 Andrew Goodman, 3000 Dundee Road #408, Northbrook, IL and Mike Colombo, 450 North Higgins Road, Elk 
Grove Village, IL presented the request. Skates clarified this building footprint was extended by 6’ in a prior Plan 
Commission meeting. 

 
Krajovic/Esarco motion to close the Public Hearing. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Esarco/Krajovic motion to approve the Conditional Use Permit and include all staff recommendations and fact finding. 
Roll Call:  Hartz, Skates, Horne, Esarco, Krajovic voting “yes.”  Motion carried unanimously. 

 
8. Comprehensive Plan Application & Amendment Process: 

 
a. 120 Properties LLC, request to change the Future Land Use Map (Maps 5a Full Planning Area 

View and 5b Central City View) to designate Tax Key No. ZYUP00198 from the Rural Holding 
Land Use category, to the Planned Mixed Use Land Use category which can be found in the 2011 
Lake Geneva Comprehensive Plan; for the property located on the north side of Town Line Road, 
west of Edwards Boulevard.  
Mayor Hartz stated the present Land Use category for this parcel is Planned Neighborhood and the 
applicant is requesting to change to Multi-Family Residential category. Walling added the request is for a 
12 acre portion of the parcel, not the entire parcel. Planner Mich explained the Comprehensive Plan 
Amendment process. Mich also explained the present and future Land Use category for this parcel. 
Esarco asked for clarification of what could be developed on this parcel with the proposed Future Land 
Use category. Walling verified the 12 acre request is located in the southwest quadrant of this parcel. 
Krajovic asked if the density change to the 38 acres was analyzed. Hartz explained the density of the 
housing would not affect what is going on around this area. Skates noted the timing of this Land Use 
change would allow the Plan Commission to discuss options for the rest of the parcel next year.  

 
b. Plan Commission Recommends Setting Public Hearing by Council. 

 
Skates/Horne motion to recommend the City Council establish a Joint Meeting with City Council and Plan Commission 
for October 15, 2018, at 5:00 pm which will include a Public Hearing for a Comprehensive Plan Amendment. 
Roll Call:  Hartz, Skates, Horne, Esarco, Krajovic voting “yes.”  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Skates/Horne motion to schedule a Public Workshop regarding a proposed Comprehensive Plan Amendment on 
September 5, 2018, from 6-8 pm in the Police Training Room at City Hall. Neighbors will be noticed regarding the parcel, 
Tax Key No. ZYUP 00198. 
Roll Call:  Hartz, Skates, Horne, Esarco, Krajovic voting “yes.”  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
9. Conceptual Plan request for the property located at Tax Key No. ZYUP00198 for 120 Properties LLC & 

Roger Wolff to improve approximately 12 acres of Tax Key No. ZYUP00198, for Copper Circle Apartment 
Homes that would allow the installation of 15 6-unit dwellings. The conceptual plan review that has been 
submitted is the preliminary site plan for a future request. 

 Walling stated the site plan in the packet has been revised and the new site plan will be included in the final request. 
Roger Wolff, 751 Geneva Pkwy, presented his conceptual plan. This plan would be a fully managed apartment 
property which consists of 6-unit buildings with a clubhouse, leasing office & maintenance staff. Wolff will give the 
city of Lake Geneva a 20’ easement around the 12 acre property for a future bike path. The roadway in the complex 
will be private. A Plan Commission discussion followed. Planner Mich stated this item will be on the September 17th 
Plan Commission Agenda for further discussion. 

 



3 of 3 
August 20, 2018 Plan Commission Minutes 
 

 
 
10. Conceptual Plan request for the property located at Tax Key No. ZSUM0001 & ZSUM0002. The conceptual 

plan request is for the Summerhaven Development of Phases II & III. This would allow for the construction 
and buildout of the remaining new Single Family dwelling units for the property located in the Planned 
Development (PD) zoning district, located on Lake Geneva Boulevard. The conceptual plan review is the step 
2 of the Planned Development Process. 

 Jim Howe, Godfrey Law Firm, Elkhorn, on behalf of McMurr II LLC, presented the request. Phase 2 consists of 4 
planned units on the north end of the property near the cul de sac. Phase 3 is located south of the existing Phase 1 
development and will consist of 23 single family units. The proposed easement agreement would share the cost of 
the private roads, pool and pool house and storm water management systems. This application asks for a 2nd access 
point to the subdivision from Lake Geneva Blvd. Krajovic asked about the demographics for this development, 
especially a common area such as a park or field. Howe will speak to the developer regarding this topic. 

 
 
11.  Adjournment.  Skates/Horne motion to adjourn at 7:18 pm. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
        
/s/ Brenda Follensbee, Building & Zoning Administrative Assistant 
 

THESE ARE NOT OFFICIAL MINUTES UNTIL APPROVED BY THE PLAN COMMISSION 



 1

STAFF REPORT 
To Lake Geneva Plan Commission 
Meeting Date:  September 17, 2018 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Description: 
The applicant is submitting an application for Downtown Design Review for the request to renovate the 
exterior façade of the building located at 260 Broad Street Tax Key No. ZOP00245. The City reviews all 
exterior alteration in the CB zoning district to confirm that they conform to the Downtown Design 
standards, particularly quantity, size, and color requirements.  
 
The applicant proposes to extend the west wall of the building to eliminate the current planter area and 
expand the floor area of the building. Proposed colors correspond within the permitted downtown 
guidelines. 
 
Staff Recommendations:  
The colors submitted have been reviewed and comply with the Historic Colors of the Sherwin Williams 
color palette. The proposed renovations meet the requirements of the Downtown Design Overlay Zoning 
district as proposed. 
 
Staff recommends approval of the request as submitted. 

Applicant: 
Thumbs Up Real Estate Holdings, LLC 
39230 93rd St.  
Genoa City, WI 53128 
 

Request: 260 Broad St 
Downtown Design Review for exterior Façade 
renovations 
Tax Key No. ZOP00245 

Agenda Item: 6a 















 1

STAFF REPORT 
To Lake Geneva Plan Commission 
Meeting Date:  September 17, 2018 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Description: 
The applicant is submitting an application for Downtown Design Review for the request to paint the 
exterior of the building located at 503 Broad Street Tax Key No. ZOP00030. The City reviews all 
exterior alteration in the CB zoning district to confirm that they conform to the Downtown Design 
standards, particularly quantity, size, and color requirements.  
 
The applicant proposes to paint the exterior of the building. Proposed colors correspond within the 
permitted downtown guidelines. 
 
Staff Recommendations:  
The colors submitted have been reviewed and comply with the Historic Colors of the Sherwin Williams 
color palette. The proposed renovations meet the requirements of the Downtown Design Overlay Zoning 
district as proposed. 
 
Staff recommends approval of the request as submitted. 

Applicant: 
503 Broad Street LLC. 
507 Broad Street 
Lake Geneva, WI 53147 

Request: 503 Broad St 
Downtown Design Review for exterior painting 
Tax Key No. ZOP00030 

Agenda Item: 6b 











 1

STAFF REPORT 
To Lake Geneva Plan Commission 
Meeting Date: September 11, 2018 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Description: 

The applicant is submitting a request for the new construction of a 4 story 92 unit Fairfield Inn to be 
located at the south east portion of the intersection of N. Edwards Blvd and Sheridan Springs Rd.  

The applicants have met with staff for this land use of Commercial Indoor Lodging land use to occur at 
this location for the consideration of the requested in Precise Implementation Plan (PIP).The requested 
PIP zoning approval will allow for the construction of the Hotel adjacent to the current Geneva Square 
property. 

Staff has met with the applicants and their considerations of, building exterior materials, and site access, 
and storm water detention. 

The city engineer has been in contact with the designer for storm water designs and requests the motion 
include the statement as contingent on the final staff approval of the storm water designs. 

Consistency with the Comprehensive Plan: 
Wisconsin law requires all Zoning Map Amendments (including Precise Implementation Plan) be 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, and particularly with the Future Land Use Map. The proposed 
PIP zoning is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. 
 
Relation to Base Zoning Standards: 

All Planned Developments must explicitly identify any flexibilities being requested from base zoning 
standards in the most comparable regular zoning district. All other zoning requirements of the current 
PIP remain. 

Action by the Plan Commission:  

Recommendation to the Common Council on the Proposed Zoning Map Amendment / PIP: 

As part of the consideration of a requested Planned Development / Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) 
step, the Plan Commission is required to: 

 Provide the Common Council with a recommendation regarding the proposed GDP; 
 Include findings required by the Zoning Ordinance for Zoning Map amendments; and, 
 Provide specific suggested requirements to modify the project as submitted. 

Applicant: 
1111 N. Edwards Blvd LLC 
1111 N. Edwards Blvd 
Lake Geneva WI, 53147 

Agenda Item: 7 

Request: 
Marriott Fairfield Inn & Suites 
Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) for 
Commercial Indoor Lodging land use in the  
Planned Industrial (PI) Zoning District 
Tax Key No. ZA468000003 & ZA468000004 



 2

Staff Review Comments: 

The proposed PIP applicants have met with staff and have provided the information and plan to support 
the requested PIP.  

Planning staff supports the requested flexibilities. Approval of this proposed PIP does not set legal 
precedent. 

Required Plan Commission Findings on the PIP for Recommendation to Common Council: 
A proposed PIP must be reviewed by the standards for all Zoning Map Amendments, below: 

A. If, after the public hearing, the Commission wishes to recommend approval, then the appropriate 
fact finding would be in agreement with Items 1 and 3, and one or more factors of Item 2, of the 
following. 

1. The proposed PIP furthers the purposes of the Zoning Ordinance as outlined in Section 98-
005 and the applicable rules and regulations of the Wisconsin Department of Natural 
Resources (DNR) and the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 

2. One or more of the following factors have arisen that are not properly addressed on the 
current Official Zoning Map: 

a. The designations of the Official Zoning Map should be brought into conformity 
with the Comprehensive Plan; 

b. A mistake was made in mapping on the Official Zoning Map; 
c. Factors have changed, making the subject property more appropriate for the 

proposed PIP zoning; 
d. Growth patterns or rates have changed, thereby creating the need for an amendment 

to the Official Zoning Map. And; 

3. The proposed PIP amendment to the Official Zoning Map maintains the desired consistency 
of land uses, land use intensities, and land use impacts as related to the environs of the 
subject property. 

Or: 
 
B. If, after the public hearing, the Commission wishes to recommend denial, then the appropriate fact 

finding would be in disagreement with at least one of Items 1, 2, or 3 of the following: 

1. The proposed PIP does not further the purposes of the Zoning Ordinance as outlined in 
Section 98-005 and the applicable rules and regulations of the Wisconsin Department of 
Natural Resources (DNR) and the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 

2. One or more of the following factors have not arisen that are not properly addressed on the 
current Official Zoning Map: 

a. The designations of the Official Zoning Map should be brought into conformity 
with the Comprehensive Plan; 

b. A mistake was made in mapping on the Official Zoning Map; 
c. Factors have changed, making the subject property more appropriate for the 

proposed PIP zoning; 
d. Growth patterns or rates have changed, thereby creating the need for an amendment 

to the Official Zoning Map. 

3. The proposed PIP amendment to the Official Zoning Map does not maintain the desired 
consistency of land uses, land use intensities, and land use impacts as related to the environs 
of the subject property. 



 3

Staff Recommendation on the Precise Implementation Plan (PIP): 

1. Staff recommends that the Plan Commission recommend approval of the PIP as submitted, 
including the granting of the requested zoning ordinance flexibilities. 

2. Staff recommends the affirmative set of findings provided above, noting that the proposal is 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan’s Future Land Use Map; proposes minimal changes to 
existing development intensity and bulk characteristics; and will be complementary to 
surrounding land uses. 

 
 



T:\C\Chief Waubonsie\Purchase from City\off copy\pip app-5.docx  Page 1 
 

 
 
 

PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 
 

FAIRFIELD INN & SUITES 
LAKE GENEVA, WISCONSIN, 

A PLANNED DEVELOPMENT OF  
1111 N EDWARDS BLVD LLC 

 
 August 10, 2018 
  



T:\C\Chief Waubonsie\Purchase from City\off copy\pip app-5.docx  Page 2 
 

 
Precise Implementation Plan Introduction 

This Precise Implementation Plan (“PIP”) concerns two vacant parcels of 
land, totaling approximately 2.468 acres, more particularly described in the attached 
Exhibit A incorporated herein and depicted on the City of Lake Geneva (“City”) Land 
Use Plan Map and an aerial photograph attached as Group Exhibit B hereto and 
incorporated herein, intended by Applicant, 1111 N Edwards Blvd LLC, a Wisconsin 
limited liability company, for the development and operation of a Fairfield Inn & Suites 
(“Site”). 
 

The Site is located in the northeast corner of the City, at the southeast 
corner of the intersection of Sheridan Springs Road and the north terminus of North 
Edwards Boulevard.  The Site is bounded as follows: 
 

North - The USH 12/STH 120 interchange and shopping center 
East - The right-of-way for USH 12  
South - Existing undeveloped land  
West - Existing undeveloped land and shopping center  
 

Access to the Site will be from two driveways on North Edwards 
Boulevard.   

 
In applying to rezone the Site to Planned Development, Applicant 

envisioned a Hampton Inn hotel.  Due to unforeseen circumstances, however, Applicant 
has changed its plan to a Fairfield Inn & Suites hotel on the Site.  Fortunately, the plan 
requires no additional flexibilities, and remains functionally the same as approved under 
the General Development Plan, keeping the same number of rooms and amenities, while 
avoiding the need for a fifth floor. 

 
The principal building on the Site will be approximately 53 feet in height, 

four floors, with 92 single room and suite units of varying sizes, breakfast area facilities, 
a fitness center, an indoor pool, a meeting room, and related motel facilities.  The 
Fairfield Inn & Suites franchise is premium-ranked in the industry.  

 
  The economic advantages of the Fairfield Inn & Suites to the City are 
substantial.  The construction of the improvements on the Site will employ about 160 
workers. The cost of the completely constructed and equipped Fairfield Inn & Suites is 
budgeted at approximately $11,351,000.00.  The estimated annual general real estate 
taxes generated by the improvements will be approximately $232,675.00 at current tax 
rates. Once operational, the Fairfield Inn & Suites is estimated to generate room sales tax 
for the City of about $307,236.00 annually, using the 8.5% room sales tax rate.  When 
operational, the Fairfield Inn & Suites will employ about 20 full-time and 15 part-time 
employees, most expected to live in the Lake Geneva area.  Once operational, total 
annual salaries paid to such employees are estimated at about $469,892.00 initially.  
 



T:\C\Chief Waubonsie\Purchase from City\off copy\pip app-5.docx  Page 3 
 

  The Site is zoned PD, General Development Plan, using the Planned 
Business District as the base zoning district, with the grant of the conditional use of 
Commercial Indoor Lodging (“PD-GDP”).   

Precise Implementation Plan  

  1. Location map of the Site on the City of Lake Geneva Land Use Plan 
Map:  See Group Exhibit B. 

2. Map of Site with lands, including zoning, and owners, including names 
and addresses, within 300 feet of the boundaries of the Site:  See Group Exhibit C 
incorporated herein.  

 
3. A general written description of proposed PIP including:  

 
   a. Specific project themes and images:  The Fairfield Inn & 
Suites franchisor sets standards for a franchisee, including building appearance.  
Applicant has incorporated suggestions from City staff into Applicant’s franchisor-
approved exterior plans and specifications.  See the Precise Implementation Plan 
Drawing, Property Site Plan and Architectural Site Plan attached as Group Exhibit D 
and incorporated herein, the Floor Plans attached as Group Exhibit E and incorporated 
herein, and the Elevations & Renderings attached as Group Exhibit F and incorporated 
herein.   
  
   b. Specific mix of dwelling unit types and/or land uses:  The 
Site is planned for use as a Fairfield Inn & Suites and its related requirements and uses, 
such as parking lot, storm water management system, and other facilities.   
  
   c. Specific non-residential intensities as described by floor 
area ratio and impervious surface area ratio:  The standard Maximum Floor Area Ratio 
(FAR) is .30.  Applicant has been granted a maximum FAR of .45, based on the ratio of 
47,500 square feet to 107,506.08 square feet. The LSR and FAR are based on a gross 
building area of 47,500 square feet, total area of 107,506.08 square feet, a building 
footprint of 13,000 square feet, and upper floors of 12,500 square feet. The standard 
Minimum Landscape Surface Ratio (LSR) is 25%.  Applicant has been granted an LSR of 
approximately 42%, based on the ratio of 47,500 square feet to 107,506.08 square feet.  
 
   d. Specific treatment of natural features:  Much of the Site will 
be improved with the Fairfield Inn & Suites building, the parking lot, the storm water 
management system, and other facilities taking considerable area.  However, 
landscaping will be maintained in accordance with the zoning standards for the Site.  
Note that the Site is not in a Primary Environmental Corridor or in the watershed for 
Geneva Lake; any storm water draining from the Site to the White River will enter the 
river east of the outflow control gates from Geneva Lake, and will meet all applicable 
water quality standards. 



T:\C\Chief Waubonsie\Purchase from City\off copy\pip app-5.docx  Page 4 
 

   e. Specific relationship to nearby properties and public 
streets: The Site, as a Fairfield Inn & Suites, is an appropriate use for the area, given the 
surrounding USH 12 and North Edwards Boulevard, and the Site’s proximity to the 
interchange of USH 12 and STH 36/120. The only developed neighboring property, the 
Geneva Square shopping center northwest of the Site, is also a commercial use and, in 
any event, is oriented toward USH 12 and the interchange, away from the Site.      

    The City has recently adopted a Bicycle and Pedestrian 
Plan, which includes planned bicycle paths on Sheridan Springs Road and North 
Edwards Boulevard that meet at their intersection.  See the Precise Implementation Plan 
Drawing for the approximate location of bike racks that Applicant proposes to purchase, 
install and maintain on the Site, to assist bicyclists riding the paths.  
 
   f. Statement of Rationale as to why PD zoning is proposed:  
Most of the flexibilities granted under the PD-GDP zoning result from the Site’s shape 
and location.  The Site, while almost 2.5 acres, is narrow and triangular in shape, 
making setbacks, for example, especially difficult.  Additionally, the Site’s location, 
relatively isolated from the rest of the City, with no nearby residential development, and 
no commercial development but for Geneva Square shopping center, makes it 
appropriate for many of the flexibilities granted under the PD-GDP.  The Site is 
particularly appropriate for a Fairfield Inn & Suites, given its proximity to USH 12, the 
interchange with USH 12 and STH 36/120, North Edwards Boulevard, and Sheridan 
Springs Road. 

   g. Complete list of zoning standards not met by the proposed 
PIP and the location(s) in which they apply and a complete list of zoning standards more 
than met by the proposed PIP and the location(s) in which they apply:  Under the PD-
GDP zoning, using a Planned Business base district, the Site has been granted the 
following Planned Business District flexibilities and will meet the following Planned 
Business District standards: 

Regulations Applicable to Nonresidential Uses: 

Nonresidential Intensity Requirements:  

Maximum Number of Floors (F): 4.  Although Applicant has been granted flexibility to 
have 5 floors and a maximum building height of approximately 65 feet, not 45 feet, 
Applicant requests 4 floors, with a height of 53 feet, given the size, shape and location of 
the Site, the need for parking, the storm water management system, and other facilities 
thereon, and the requisite number of units for the Site.  The Site is relatively isolated, 
with major highways and roadways surrounding it.  There are no nearby residential 
properties for which views will be significantly affected, the closest being Stone Ridge 
Subdivision, which is located northwest of the Site, outlets on Center Street, is built on a 
hill higher than the Site, with the Site not in the line of sight between the subdivision and 
Geneva Lake.  The building will use a flat roof, rather than a pitched roof, to minimize its 
height.  A minimum four foot-high parapet wall around the roof or equipment-mounted 
screens will shield any necessary mechanical equipment and vents from view, 
particularly at street level.  As a hotel-motel, greater ceiling height is needed, 



T:\C\Chief Waubonsie\Purchase from City\off copy\pip app-5.docx  Page 5 
 

particularly for the first floor, to accommodate amenities such as the breakfast area 
facilities, the fitness center, the indoor pool, and the meeting room.  Applicant will install 
water pressure boosting equipment if required for fire suppression or other water needs 
to serve the building.  
Minimum Landscape Surface Ratio (LSR): 25%.  Applicant has been granted an LSR of 
approximately 42%, based on the ratio of 47,500 square feet to 107,506.08 square feet.  
Maximum Floor Area Ratio (FAR): .30.  Applicant has been granted a maximum FAR of 
.45, based on the ratio of 47,500 square feet to 107,506.08 square feet. The LSR and FAR 
are based on a gross building area of 47,500 square feet, total area of 107,506.08 square 
feet, a building footprint of 13,000 square feet, and upper floors of 12,500 square feet. 
Minimum Lot Area (MLA): 20,000 square feet 
Maximum Building Size (MBS): Not applicable. 
 
Nonresidential Bulk Requirements: 
a) Minimum Lot Area: 20,000 square feet 
b) Minimum Lot Width: 100 feet; Minimum Street Frontage: 50 feet 
c) Minimum Setbacks:  
 i) Building to Front or Street Lot Line: 25 feet, 40 feet for a lot adjacent to a street 
with an Officially Mapped right-of-way equal to or exceeding 100 feet.   Applicant has 
been granted flexibility for the Site to reduce the street yard setbacks from 40 feet from 
the rights-of-way for USH 12, Sheridan Springs Road, and North Edwards Boulevard, as 
shown on the Precise Implementation Plan Drawing.  The Site is narrow and triangular 
in shape, and a 40 foot setback from each boundary of the Site would leave too little of 
the Site for development, including building, parking, storm water management system, 
and other facilities.  
 ii) Building to Nonresidential Side Lot Line: 10 feet or 0 feet on zero lot line side.  
Not applicable, because all three sides of the Site are bounded by public streets or 
highways, subject to the street yard setback of 40 feet, from which flexibility has been 
granted, above. 
 iii) Building to Nonresidential Rear Lot Line: 30 feet.  Not applicable, because all 
three sides of the Site are bounded by public streets or highways, subject to the street 
yard setback of 40 feet, from which flexibility has been granted, above.   
d) Peripheral Setback: Along zoning district boundary:  With the base Planned Business 
zoning district, the surrounding zoning districts of Planned Industrial and Planned 
Development-Commercial impose no peripheral setback. 
e) Minimum Paved Surface Setback: 5 feet from side or rear; 10 feet from street.  
Applicant has been granted a minimum paved surface setback from the North Edwards 
Boulevard right-of-way reduced from 10 feet to 3 feet, particularly around the south 
access point to the Site, given the narrowness of the Site.  
f) Minimum Building Separation: 20 feet or 0 feet on zero lot line side. 
g) Maximum Building Height: 45 feet.  Although Applicant has been granted flexibility to 
have 5 floors and a maximum building height of approximately 65 feet, not 45 feet, 
Applicant requests 4 floors, with a height of 53 feet, given the size, shape and location of 
the Site, the need for parking, the storm water management system, and other facilities 
thereon, and the requisite number of units for the Site.  The Site is relatively isolated, 
with major highways and roadways surrounding it.  There are no nearby residential 
properties for which views will be significantly affected, the closest being Stone Ridge 



T:\C\Chief Waubonsie\Purchase from City\off copy\pip app-5.docx  Page 6 
 

Subdivision, which is located northwest of the Site, outlets on Center Street, is built on a 
hill higher than the Site, with the Site not in the line of sight between the subdivision and 
Geneva Lake.  The building will use a flat roof, rather than a pitched roof, to minimize its 
height.  A minimum four foot-high parapet wall around the roof or equipment-mounted 
screens will shield any necessary mechanical equipment and vents from view, 
particularly at street level.  As a hotel-motel, greater ceiling height is needed, 
particularly for the first floor, to accommodate amenities such as the breakfast area 
facilities, the fitness center, the indoor pool, and the meeting room.  Applicant will install 
water pressure boosting equipment if required for fire suppression or other water needs 
to serve the building.   
 
Minimum Number of Off-Street Parking Spaces Required on the Lot:  99 stalls, including 
4 ADA stalls.  
 
Nonresidential Performance Standards: 
Access Point to Intersection:  Under 98-702(6), on an arterial or nonresidential collector 
street, no access point can be closer than one hundred (100) feet from the intersection of 
any two street rights-of-way unless such street is the only available frontage on the 
property.  The north access point to the Site on North Edwards Boulevard is 
approximately 100 feet from the intersection of North Edwards Boulevard and Sheridan 
Springs Road.  Applicant has been granted flexibility to locate the north access point as 
shown on the Precise Implementation Plan Drawing to align the driveway properly with 
the porte cochere and the lobby entrance to the Fairfield Inn & Suites, and to permit the 
circulation of emergency vehicles around the Fairfield Inn & Suites on the Site. 

  4.  Precise Implementation Plan Drawing at a minimum scale of 
1"=100' (11" x 17" reduction also) showing at least the following information: 
   a. A PIP site plan conforming to all the requirements of Section 
98-908(3).     
   b. Location of recreational/open space areas and facilities, 
specifically describing those that are to be reserved or dedicated for public acquisition 
and use; 
   c. The precise areas of all development lots and pads, 
density/intensity of various parts of the development, floor area ratio, impervious surface 
area ratio and landscape surface area ratio of various land uses, expected staging, and any 
other plans required by the Plan Commission or Common Council; and 
   d. Notations relating the written information provided in (8)(a)3.a.-
f., above to specific areas on the GDP Drawing.  See Group Exhibit D.  
 
  5.  Landscaping plan for Site, specifying location, species, and 
installed size of all trees and shrubs, including a chart with a cumulative total for each 
species, type and required location (foundation, yard, street, paved area or bufferyard) of 
all trees and shrubs.  See the attached Landscaping Plan incorporated herein as Exhibit 
G.  
 



T:\C\Chief Waubonsie\Purchase from City\off copy\pip app-5.docx  Page 7 
 

  6.  Series of building elevations for the entire exterior of all buildings 
in the Planned Development, including detailed notes as to the materials and colors 
proposed:  See Group Exhibit F. 
 
  7. General signage plan, including all project identification signs, 
concepts for public fixtures and signs (such as street light fixtures and/or poles or street 
sign faces and/or poles), and group development signage themes which are proposed to 
vary from City standards or common practices.  The outdoor lighting plan is also 
provided.  See the attached General Signage Plan and the Electrical Site Plan 
incorporated herein as Group Exhibit H.   
 
  8. General outline of intended organizational structure; deed 
restrictions and provisions for private provision of common services, if any:  Applicant 
will contract with a reputable and qualified hotel management company to operate the 
Fairfield Inn & Suites on the Site, subject to monitoring by Applicant and additional 
oversight for adherence to standards set by the franchisor for Fairfield Inn & Suites.  
   
  9.  Description demonstrating full consistency of proposed PIP with 
approved GDP:  The PIP employs the flexibilities granted under the PD-GDP, and no 
other.  The PIP realizes Applicant’s vision for the construction and operation of a first-
class Fairfield Inn & Suites on the Site, as described under its Concept Plan and 
approved PD-GDP.   
 
  10. Any and all variations between the requirements of the applicable 
PD/GDP zoning district and the proposed PIP development:  The PIP makes the 
following minor revisions to the Site Plan under the GDP, none of which requires 
additional flexibility from the Zoning Ordinance and, therefore, no amendment to the 
GDP: 
  
  a. Reduction of the number of floors from 5 to 4, and building height from 
65 feet to 53 feet. 
 
  11. Proof of financing capability to construct, maintain and operate the 
public works elements of the proposed development:  Pursuant to the Development 
Agreement to be entered between the City and Applicant as a part of the PIP approval, 
Applicant will provide a surety reasonably acceptable to the City in the amount of 120% 
of the City Engineer’s estimated cost of the purchase and installation of the public 
improvements under the engineering plans approved by the City Engineer.  
 
  12. Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) submission includes site plan 
and design information, allowing the Plan Commission design review and review of the 
PIP:  See the Precise Implementation Plan Drawing, Property Site Plan and 
Architectural Site Plan (Group Exhibit D), the Floor Plans (Group Exhibit E), the 
Elevations & Renderings (Group Exhibit F), the Landscaping Plan (Exhibit G), and 
General Signage Plan and Electrical Site Plan (Group Exhibit H).  See also the Final 
Engineering Plans attached hereto as Group Exhibit I and incorporated herein.  
 



T:\C\Chief Waubonsie\Purchase from City\off copy\pip app-5.docx  Page 8 
 

 Applicant respectfully requests that the City grant the PIP, pursuant to this 
Application, subject to such reasonable conditions that the City may impose.   
 
  



T:\C\Chief Waubonsie\Purchase from City\off copy\pip app-5.docx  Page 9 
 

EXHIBIT A 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF SITE 

 
Lot 3 and Lot 4 of Certified Survey Map No. 4680 recorded October 13, 2016 in Volume 
31 of Certified Surveys on Page 28 as Document No. 934194, and being part of the 
Northwest 1/4 and the Northeast 1/4 of the Southwest 1/4 and Southeast 1/4 and 
Southwest 1/4 of the Northwest 1/4 all in Section 30, Township 2 North, Range 18 East, 
City of Lake Geneva, Walworth County, Wisconsin. 
 
Tax Key No. ZA468000003 and ZA 468000004 
 
Address: Vacant Lots, 1111 North Edwards Boulevard 

 



T:\C\Chief Waubonsie\Purchase from City\off copy\pip app-5.docx  Page 10 
 

GROUP EXHIBIT B 
 

CITY LAND USE PLAN MAP AND  
AERIAL PHOTOGRAPH 

 
See attached. 







T:\C\Chief Waubonsie\Purchase from City\off copy\pip app-5.docx  Page 11 
 

GROUP EXHIBIT C 
MAP OF SITE & 

OWNERS WITHIN 300 FEET 
 
  See attached. 





T:\C\Chief Waubonsie\Purchase from City\off copy\pip app-5.docx  Page 12 
 

GROUP EXHIBIT D 
PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN DRAWING, 

PROPERTY SITE PLAN &  
ARCHITECTURAL SITE PLAN  

 
  See attached. 







T:\C\Chief Waubonsie\Purchase from City\off copy\pip app-5.docx  Page 13 
 

GROUP EXHIBIT E 
FLOOR PLANS 

 
  See attached. 







T:\C\Chief Waubonsie\Purchase from City\off copy\pip app-5.docx  Page 14 
 

GROUP EXHIBIT F 
ELEVATIONS & RENDERINGS 

 
  See attached. 
 













T:\C\Chief Waubonsie\Purchase from City\off copy\pip app-5.docx  Page 15 
 

EXHIBIT G 
LANDSCAPE PLAN 

 
  See attached. 



SS

W

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

T x

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

UP

N EDWARDS BLVD

LANDSCAPE
EDGING, TYP.

N. EDWARDS BOULEVARD

EXISTING TREE BUFFER TO REMAIN
EXISTING TREE BUFFER TO REMAIN

DUMPSTER
ENCLOSURE

BIKE PARKING AREA

FAIRFIELD INN
4 STORY
92 UNIT
HOTEL

ENTIRE SITE

MUST BE

IRRIGATED

NOT REQUIRED

TO BE

IRRIGATED

NORTH

Th
is

  
d
o
cu

m
e
nt

  
co

nt
ai

ns
  
co

nf
id

e
nt

ia
l 
 o

r 
 p

ro
p
ri
e
ta

ry
  
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
 o

f 
R
am

ak
e
r 

& 
A
ss

o
ci

at
e
s,

 I
nc

. 
 N

e
it
he

r 
th

is
 d

o
cu

m
e
nt

  
no

r 
 t

he
 i
nf

o
rm

at
io

n 
he

re
in

 i
s 

 t
o
  
b
e
  
re

p
ro

d
uc

e
d
, 
 d

is
tr

ib
ut

e
d
, 
 u

se
d
  
o
r 

 d
is

cl
o
se

d
 e

it
he

r 
in

  
w
ho

le
  
o
r 

 i
n 

 p
ar

t 
 e

xc
e
p
t 

 a
s 

au
th

o
ri
ze

d
 b

y 
R
am

ak
e
r 

an
d
 A

ss
o
ci

at
e
s,

 I
nc

.

Certification & Seal:

SHEET
NUMBER

PROJECT
NUMBER

ISSUE
PHASE:

DATE
ISSUED:

MARK     DATE     DESCRIPTION

16'0 32'8'

12" x 18"
24" x 36"

- 1/32" = 1'
- 1/16" = 1'

SHEET TITLE:

PROJECT TITLE:

PROJECT OWNER:

PROJECT LOCATION:

I:\
3
6
3
0
0
\3

6
3
5
9
 W

au
bo

ns
ie

-L
ak

e 
G

en
ev

a 
W

I\0
1
. 
D

ra
w
in

gs
\A

ut
oc

ad
\A

rc
hi

te
ct

ur
al

\3
6
3
5
9
 -

 A
0
0
1
_A

0
0
2
_A

0
0
3
 -

 O
V
ER

A
LL

 S
IT

E,
 S

IG
N
 &

 L
A
N
D

S
C
A
PE

 P
LA

N
.d

w
g 

  
Pr

in
te

d 
by

: 
 r

he
gg

e 
on

 S
ep

 1
2
, 
2
0
1
8
 -

 2
:3

9
pm

Co
py

rig
ht 

   
   

   
 - 

 R
am

ake
r &

 A
ss

oc
iat

es
, In

c. 
 - 

 A
ll R

igh
ts 

Re
se

rve
d

DR
AW

N 
BY

:
CH

EC
KE

D 
BY

:
C

20
18

36359

FAIRFIELD INN
4 STORY
92 UNIT

1111 NORTH EDWARDS BLVD LLC.

LAKE GENEVA, WI

PIP PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN

08/24/2018

A002

LANDSCAPING PLAN

RM
H

DW
S

LANDSCAPING SUMMARY

SITE ASPECT QUANTITY (UNITS) POINTS PER QUANTITY POINTS DESIRED
PAVED AREA 50,547 SF 80 POINTS / 10,000 SF 404

STREET FRONTAGE 1,129 LF 40 POINTS / 100 LF 452

BUILDING PERIMETER 610 LF 40 POINTS / 100 LF 244

BUILDING FLOOR AREA 12,500 SF 10 POINTS / 1,000 SF 125

TOTAL 1,225 POINTS

LANDSCAPE LEGEND

GRASS

ASPHALT

LANDSCAPE ROCK

CONCRETE

SCALE: 1/16" = 1'-0"
LANDSCAPING PLAN1

NOTES:
1.  SEE A002.1 FOR PLANTING NOTES AND DETAILS.
2.  SEE ARCH. FOR BUILDING INFORMATION.
3.  SEE CIVIL FOR GRADING AND SITE LAYOUT.

2" cal.

1.5" cal.





T:\C\Chief Waubonsie\Purchase from City\off copy\pip app-5.docx  Page 16 
 

GROUP EXHIBIT H 
GENERAL SIGNAGE PLAN & 

ELECTRICAL SITE PLAN 
  
  See attached. 







T:\C\Chief Waubonsie\Purchase from City\off copy\pip app-5.docx  Page 17 
 

GROUP EXHIBIT I 
FINAL ENGINEERING PLANS 

 
  See attached. 
 
 
 
 
 

























1 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

Document Number Document Name 

 

 

THIS DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made 
this ____ day of July, 2018, between the CITY OF LAKE GENEVA, 
Walworth County, Wisconsin (“City”), and 1111 N EDWARDS 
BLVD LLC, a Wisconsin limited liability company (“Developer”). 

 

RECITALS 

  WHEREAS, the City is a Wisconsin municipal 
corporation, organized and existing pursuant to Wis. Stat. Ch. 62, with 
authority to enter into this Agreement under its zoning and annexation 
ordinances, as well as the general home rule authority vested in it 
under Wisconsin law; and 

 WHEREAS, the City is the owner and seller of certain real property located in the 
northeast corner of the City, at the southeast corner of the intersection of Sheridan Springs Road and the 
north terminus of North Edwards Boulevard, commonly known as 1111 North Edwards Boulevard, and 
more particularly described in the attached Exhibit A incorporated herein (“Site”); and   

 WHEREAS, the Developer is the contract purchaser of the Site from the City; and   

 WHEREAS, the Site is zoned PD, Planned Development, per Ordinance No. 18-
_______, and is the subject of a General Development Plan, using the Planned Business District as its 
base zoning district, with the grant of the conditional use of Commercial Indoor Lodging, approved May 
29, 2018 (“GDP”).  Concurrently herewith, the Developer is applying for a Precise Implementation Plan 
(“PIP”) for the Site; and   

 WHEREAS, the Developer desires to own and develop the Site as a Hampton Inn 
pursuant to the GDP and the PIP (“Development”); and   

 WHEREAS, the Development conforms to the City’s Comprehensive Master Plan, 
because the Site is part of a “Planned Mixed Use Area,” which includes the Planned Business District; 
and   

 WHEREAS, the City and the Developer desire to enter into this Agreement.   

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Recording Area 
Name and Return Address 

James P. Howe 
GODFREY, LEIBSLE, BLACKBOURN & 
HOWARTH, S.C. 
354 Seymour Court 
Elkhorn, Wisconsin 53121 

 
ZA468000003 and ZA468000004 

Parcel Identification Number (PIN) 



2 
 

 
  NOW, THEREFORE, the City and the Developer enter into this Agreement on the 
date first set forth above, and agree as follows:     
 
SECTION 1 
 RESTATEMENT OF RECITALS 
 
SECTION 1.1 Recitals Incorporated.  The Recitals set forth hereinabove are restated in the text of 
this Agreement by reference as if set forth in full herein, and as such constitute agreements by and 
between the parties made part and parcel of this Agreement.  
 
SECTION 2 
 PUBLIC AND PRIVATE IMPROVEMENTS 
 
SECTION 2.1 Phasing/Staging.  The Development shall be developed in one phase.  The Developer 
will install all necessary infrastructure, including sanitary sewer, municipal water supply and related 
facilities (collectively, “Public Improvements”), as well as surface water drainage, parking lot, 
building, utilities, other private improvements and related facilities (collectively, “Private 
Improvements”), as may be necessary to serve the Development (Public Improvements and Private 
Improvements, sometimes, collectively, “Improvements”).  All Improvements shall comply with City 
and state standards, to be reviewed and approved by the City Engineer, as provided below, and the 
Public Improvements shall be dedicated and conveyed or transferred to the City pursuant to this 
Agreement. 
 
SECTION 2.2 Contractors.  The Developer shall furnish, or cause to be furnished, all labor and 
services, material, and work for the construction and completion of the Improvements.  The parties 
acknowledge and agree that the Developer may have any or all of the Improvements constructed and 
supplied by various contractors, and the City specifically agrees that this shall be permitted.  The City 
declares that the Developer may employ any such general contractor or subcontractors, in its own 
discretion and of its own choosing.  The contractors, however, shall appear on the City’s pre-
qualification list of contractors.   
 
SECTION 2.3 Improvements’ Compliance with Plans.  The Developer will construct and 
complete, or cause to be constructed and completed, the Improvements in a thorough, workmanlike, 
and substantial manner in every respect, to the satisfaction and approval of both the City Engineer 
and the City Council, within the times specified herein and in strict accordance with the instructions 
and information contained in this Agreement, the performance bond, and the plans and specifications 
submitted as part of the PIP and reviewed and approved by the City Engineer (collectively, “Plans”), 
all of which documents are hereby made a part of this Agreement and form the Agreement documents 
as fully as if the same were set forth at length herein.  The Developer, however, shall not be 
considered in default of any of the terms, covenants, and conditions of this Agreement if the 
Developer fails to perform any of its obligations hereunder and such failure is caused, in whole or in 
part, by any act of God, weather conditions, strikes, labor shortages, fires, casualties, shortages of 
materials, work stoppages, or other matters beyond the reasonable control of the Developer.  In the 
event that any matters set forth in this section delay the Developer’s ability to timely perform its 
obligations under this Agreement, the date upon which said obligations were to be completed shall be 
extended for a like number of days.   
 



3 
 

SECTION 2.4 Required Improvements.  The following are the Improvements which will be 
required by the City.  No improvements which are not specifically contained in the Plans shall be 
required to be installed by Developer or shall be required by the City to be installed without the 
express consent of Developer, notwithstanding any new ordinances or any modifications to the 
ordinances or requirements of the City from time to time.   
 

a. Sanitary Sewer System.  The Developer shall construct the sanitary sewer Public 
Improvements to make adequate sanitary sewerage service available to the Site.  The 
size, type, and installation of all sanitary sewers, laterals and related facilities to 
serve the Development shall be in accordance with the Plans.  The Developer agrees 
that the City will not accept the sanitary sewer Public Improvements until the same 
have been installed in accordance with the Plans.   

 
b. Municipal Water Supply Facilities.  The Developer shall construct the municipal 

water supply Public Improvements in such a manner as to make adequate water 
service available to the Site.  The size, type, and installation of all municipal water 
supply mains, laterals, and related facilities proposed to be constructed shall be in 
accordance with the Plans.  The Developer agrees that the City will not accept the 
municipal water supply Public Improvements until such Public Improvements have 
been installed in accordance with the Plans.   

 
c. Storm Water Management System.  The Developer shall construct the storm water 

management system Private Improvements, which include catch basins and inlets, 
storm sewers, road ditches and open channels, detention/retention basins, and other 
water quality components as may be required for the Site.  All such Private 
Improvements are to be of adequate size and grade to hydraulically accommodate 
maximum potential volumes of flow.  The type of Improvements required, the 
design criteria, and the sizes and grades shall be in accordance with the Plans.  The 
storm water management system Private Improvements shall be designed to present 
no hazard to life or property.  The size, type, and installation of all storm water 
drains and sewers proposed to be constructed shall be in accordance with the Plans.  
In no event will the City accept the storm water management system Private 
Improvements, the maintenance of which shall be the responsibility of the owner of 
the Site, performed in accordance with the Storm Water Management Systems 
Maintenance Plan attached as Exhibit B hereto and incorporated herein.  If such 
owner fails to perform such maintenance, the City, upon advance written notice to 
such owner, shall have the right of access to the storm water management system 
Private Improvements for inspection, public drainage conveyance, and repairs.   

 
d. Other Utilities.   

 
1. The Developer shall cause electrical power, natural gas, 

telephone facilities, and cable television service to be installed 
in such a manner as to make adequate service available to the 
Site.  All electrical power, natural gas, telephone facilities, and 
cable television service shall be located, where practicable, in 
underground conduits.   

 



4 
 

2. Plans indicating proposed locations of all electrical power, gas, 
and telephone distribution and transmission lines required to 
service the Site shall be reviewed and approved by the City 
Engineer.   

 
e. Private Street Lights.  Site light and sign Private Improvements shall be installed at 

the Developer’s cost and shall conform to the Plans.  Installation shall be approved by 
the City Engineer.  Following installation and approval, such light and sign 
Improvements shall be the property of the Developer, and the Developer shall 
maintain the same.  

 
f. Landscaping.  The Developer shall:   

 
1. Preserve, to the maximum extent possible, existing trees, 

shrubbery, vines, and grasses not lying in public roadway 
drainageways, building foundation sites, private driveway, 
parking lot, storm water management systems, paths, and trails, 
by use of sound conservation practices.   

 
2. Remove and lawfully dispose of all destroyed trees, brush, 

stumps, shrubs, and other natural growth and all rubbish.   
       

SECTION 3 
 DEDICATION 
SECTION 3.1 Dedication.  Subject to all of the other provisions of this Agreement, the Developer 
shall, without charge to the City, upon completion of all of the above-described Public Improvements 
the Site, unconditionally give, grant, convey, and fully dedicate same to the City, its successors and 
assigns, forever, free and clear of all encumbrances, together with, including, without limitation, all 
buildings, structures, mains, conduits, pipes, lines, and appurtenances which may in any way be a part 
of or pertain to such Public Improvements, and together with all necessary easements for access and 
maintenance thereto.  
 
SECTION 4 

RECAPTURE 
 
SECTION 4.1 Recapture.  The parties intend that the costs for the eastward extension by the 
Developer of the sanitary sewer main Public Improvements from their current terminus on Sheridan 
Springs Road, and south on North Edwards Boulevard to the Site (“Recapture Sewer Main”), shall be 
recaptured from the properties that benefit from the use of the Recapture Sewer Main on Sheridan 
Springs Road or North Edwards Boulevard (collectively, “Benefitted Properties;” individually, 
“Benefitted Property”); provided, however, that if no Benefitted Property connects to the Recapture 
Sewer Main to serve such property within thirty (30) years after the date of the acceptance by the City 
of the dedication thereof, no such costs shall be recaptured from the Benefitted Properties.  The total 
of such costs and the Benefitted Properties shall be agreed upon by the City and the Developer upon 
the acceptance of the dedication of the Recapture Sewer Main by the City. 
 
SECTION 4.2 Allocation.  When a request is made to the City to connect to the Recapture Sewer 
Main to serve a Benefitted Property, the City shall institute special assessment procedures in 
accordance with Wis. Stat. § 66.0703, or such other applicable provision relating thereto, subjecting 



5 
 

such property to a special assessment or charge to pay its share of the costs for the connection to the 
Recapture Sewer Main, to be allocated among the Benefitted Properties on the basis of their 
proportionate lineal footage of Recapture Sewer Main.  The City shall not permit any Benefitted 
Property to connect to the Recapture Sewer Main until there has first been paid to the City such 
property’s share of such costs as provided herein. 
 
SECTION 4.3 Collection.  The City shall collect the proportionate share of the cost from the 
Benefitted Properties as determined herein for the benefit of the Developer.  Within a reasonable time 
after receiving such share, the City shall forward the full amount thereof to the Developer or the 
Developer’s assignee.  The City shall take all steps legally permissible to attempt to recapture 
assessments from the Benefitted Properties as provided herein, but disclaims any personal liability in 
the event such recapture cannot legally be accomplished by reason of lapse of time, illegality, or 
otherwise.  The Developer waives any right of action against the City for any sums that the City is 
unable to recapture.   
 
SECTION 5 
 PLANS 
 
SECTION 5.1 Plans On Site.  The Developer shall keep itself supplied with the latest issues of all 
the Plans, and shall keep one (1) copy thereof at the Site of the work, in good order and available to 
the City Engineer, or his or her inspectors, representatives, or agents. 
 
SECTION 5.2 Filing Plans.  At least two (2) complete copies of the Plans shall be filed with the City 
Clerk, together with two (2) sets of the Plans, one (1) set each in Mylar and digital format, of the 
Plans to the City Engineer and the Public Works Director, and all such copies of the Plans shall 
remain the property of the City. 
 
SECTION 5.3 City Engineer Instruction.  The City Engineer shall promptly furnish the Developer 
with such additional instructions relating to the Plans, by means of drawings, plans, or otherwise, as 
is required to proceed with the Public Improvements.  All such drawings and additional instructions 
shall be consistent with this Agreement and reasonably inferable therefrom. 
 
SECTION 5.4 Conformity with Plans.  All Improvements shall be executed in conformity with the 
Plans, including additional instructions.  The Developer shall cause no work to be performed without 
proper drawings, plans, and specifications. 
 
SECTION 5.5 Additional Plans.  If any additional plans or specifications are prepared by the 
Developer, the cost of same shall be paid for by the Developer.  If any additional plans or 
specifications are prepared by the City Engineer, the Developer shall pay to the City all costs incurred 
by the City for the preparation of said plans and specifications, which costs shall include engineering, 
legal, administrative, and all other miscellaneous costs.  The Developer shall pay to the City all costs 
incurred by the City Engineer when he or she reviews the Plans that are prepared by, or at the 
direction of, the Developer. 
 
SECTION 5.6 As Built Drawings.  The Developer shall file with the City Engineer a complete set of 
“AS BUILT DRAWINGS,” one (1) set each in Mylar and digital format, for all of the Improvements 
under this Agreement upon the completion of the Site.  The Developer, in its sole discretion, may 
commission the City Engineer to prepare such drawings, at the Developer’s expense.    
 



6 
 

SECTION 6 
 CONSTRUCTION AND INSPECTION 
 
SECTION 6.1 Commencement.  No construction, installation, or Improvements shall commence for 
the Site until the Developer has made arrangements for inspection and construction staking, and the 
City Engineer has given written authorization. 
 
SECTION 6.2 Inspection.  The Developer, prior to any work within the Site, shall make 
arrangements with the City Engineer to provide for adequate inspection during construction.  The 
City Engineer, and/or his or her inspector, shall inspect and approve all work to assure that the Plans 
comply with the laws, ordinances and regulations of the City (collectively, “Code”) and any other 
applicable governmental authority, subject to the provisions of this Agreement.  The City Engineer 
shall approve all work prior to release of the sureties. 
 
SECTION 6.3 Access.  The City Engineer, his or her inspectors, representatives, or agents, shall, at 
all times, have unrestricted access to all parts of the work and to other places where or in which the 
preparation of materials and other integral parts of the public Improvements are being carried on and 
conducted. 
 
SECTION 6.4 Assistance.   The Developer shall provide all facilities and assistance requested or 
required to carry out the work of supervision and inspection by the City Engineer, his or her 
inspectors, representatives, or agents. 
 
SECTION 6.5 Responsibilities Not Relieved.  Inspection of the Improvements by these authorities 
or their representatives shall in no manner be presumed to relieve, in any degree, the responsibility or 
obligations of the Developer or to constitute the Developer as an agent of the City. 
 
SECTION 6.6 Materials Inspection.  No material of any kind shall be used in the Public 
Improvements until it has been inspected and accepted by the City Engineer, or his or her inspector.  
All rejected materials shall be immediately removed from the Site.  Any materials or workmanship 
found at any time to be defective shall be replaced or remedied at once, regardless of previous 
inspection.  Inspection of materials shall be promptly made and, where practicable, at the source of 
supply. 
 
SECTION 6.7 Request for Inspection.  Whenever the specifications, the instructions of the City 
Engineer, the Code, or the laws, ordinances, or regulations of any public authority require work to be 
specifically treated or approved, the Developer’s contractor shall give the City Engineer timely notice 
of its readiness for inspection, and if the inspection is by another authority, of the date fixed for such 
inspection. 
 
SECTION 6.8 Compliance with Laws.  The Developer and every contractor or person doing or 
contracting to do any work contemplated by this Agreement shall keep itself fully informed of all 
national and state laws and the Code in any manner affecting the Improvements, and shall at all times 
observe and comply with such national and state laws and the Code regardless of whether such 
national and state laws and the Code are mentioned herein, and shall indemnify the City, its officers, 
agents, and employees, against any claim or liability arising from or based on the violation of any 
national and state laws and the Code. 
 



7 
 

SECTION 6.9 Permits.  The Developer shall secure, at its own expense, all necessary certificates and 
permits from municipal or other public authorities required in connection with the Improvements, and 
shall give all notices required by law, ordinance, or regulation and the Code.  The Developer shall 
pay all fees and charges incident to be due for the lawful prosecution of the work contemplated by 
this Agreement and any extra work performed by the Developer.   
 
SECTION 6.10 Engineering Fees.  The City shall require that the City Engineer provide the 
Developer with a written, detailed estimate of the anticipated cost of all engineering inspection of 
construction, construction staking, and all inspections by the City Engineer, or his or her inspector for 
the Site, before commencement.  The Developer shall pay to the City the actual cost billed by the 
City Engineer.   
 
SECTION 7 
 PROTECTION OF WORK, PROPERTY, AND PERSONS 
 
SECTION 7.1 Safety Precautions.  The Developer shall be responsible for initiating, maintaining, 
and supervising all safety precautions and programs in connection with the work on the Site.  The 
Developer will take all necessary precautions for the safety of, and will provide the necessary 
protection to prevent damage, injury, or loss to, all employees on the work and other persons who 
may be affected thereby, all the work and all materials or equipment to be incorporated therein, 
whether in storage on or off the Site, and other property at the Site, or adjacent thereto, including 
trees, shrubs, lawns, walks, pavements, roadways, structures, and utilities not designated for removal, 
relocation, or replacement in the course of construction on the Site. 
 
SECTION 7.2 No Nuisance.  The Developer shall provide all necessary privy accommodations for 
the use of its contractors, and shall maintain the same in a clean and sanitary condition.  The 
Developer shall not create or permit any nuisance to the public or to residents in the vicinity of the 
work on the Site. 
 
SECTION 7.3 Safety Regulation Compliance.  The Developer will comply with all applicable 
safety laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders of any public body having jurisdiction, and the 
Code.  The Developer will erect and maintain, as required by the conditions and progress of the work 
on the Site, all necessary safeguards for safety and protection.  The Developer will notify owners of 
adjacent properties when prosecution of the work may affect them.  The Developer will remedy all 
damage, injury, or loss to any property caused, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, by the 
Developer’s contractors or any subcontractors, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of 
them, or anyone for whose acts any of them be liable. 
 
SECTION 7.4 Preventing Damage.  In emergencies affecting the safety of persons or the work or 
property at the Site, or adjacent thereto, the Developer shall immediately act to prevent threatened 
damage, injury, or loss. 
 
SECTION 8 
 TIME FOR COMPLETION OF WORK; PERFORMANCE BOND 
 
SECTION 8.1 Commencement.  It is anticipated that construction of the Improvements will 
commence no later than August 2018.  The term of this Agreement shall expire on the tenth (10th) 
anniversary date of such commencement of construction; provided, however, that the Developer may 
seek extension as reasonably necessary to complete the Site.   



8 
 

 
SECTION 8.2 Security.  A surety bond will be filed with the City prior to construction of the Site.  
The procedure for the filing of the surety bond shall be as follows:  A surety bond equal in amount to 
one hundred twenty percent (120%) of the Public Improvements shall be issued by a financial 
institution acceptable to the City.  Said surety bond may be reduced from time to time by the value of 
the Public Improvements previously completed and fully paid.  The security will be reduced 
proportionately as each aspect of the construction for the Site has been completed and paid for.  
Should additional Public Improvements be added or the cost of the intended Public Improvements 
prove to be larger than originally anticipated, the surety bond shall be immediately supplemented to 
include any additional amounts or other estimated costs with respect to said Public Improvements.  
To secure the Developer's warranty of the Public Improvements under subsection 11.01(c), below, the 
Developer shall maintain maintenance bond in the amount of ten (10) percent of the cost of such 
Public Improvements for twelve (12) months.   
 
SECTION 8.3 Acceptance of Work.  No act of the City, of the City Engineer, or of any 
representative of either, in inspecting the Public Improvements, or any extension of time for the 
completion of such Improvements, shall be regarded as an acceptance of such Improvements or any 
part thereof, or of materials used therein, either wholly or in part.  Acceptance shall be evidenced 
only by the final certificate of the City Engineer.  No waiver of any breach of this Agreement by the 
City or anyone acting on its behalf shall be held as a waiver of any other subsequent breach thereof.  
Any remedy provided herein shall be taken and construed as cumulative.   

 
SECTION 8.4 Breach, Completion.  In the event the Developer fails to complete the Public 
Improvements within the specified time, commits a material breach of any of the other covenants 
hereunder, or if the Developer becomes insolvent, or is declared bankrupt, or commits any act of 
bankruptcy or insolvency, or makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or from any other 
cause whatsoever, does not carry on the Public Improvements in an acceptable manner, the City shall 
give notice in writing to the Developer and its surety of such delay, neglect, or default, specifying the 
same, and if the Developer, within a period of ten (10) days after such notice, does not proceed in 
accordance therewith, subject to the provisions of Section 2.3 hereof, then the City shall, upon written 
certificate from the City Engineer of the fact of such delay, neglect, or default, and the Developer’s 
failure to comply with such notice, have full power and authority to call upon the surety or complete 
the work in accordance with the terms of this Agreement; or the City may take over the Public 
Improvements, including any or all materials and equipment on the ground as may be suitable and 
acceptable, and may complete the Public Improvements by or on its own account, or may enter into a 
new agreement with another party for the completion of the Public Improvements, according to the 
terms and provisions hereof, or use such other methods as, in its opinion, shall be required for such 
completion of in an acceptable manner.  All costs and charges incurred by the City, together with the 
cost of completing the Public Improvements, shall be charged to the Developer, and the Developer 
and its surety shall be liable therefor.   
 
SECTION 9 
 RISK OF LOSS 
 
SECTION 9.1 Risk of Loss.  The risk of loss or damage of any kind whatsoever to materials stored 
on the Site, and the risk of damage or destruction to the Site or any part thereof, at any time prior to 
the completion and acceptance of the Public Improvements to be performed under this Agreement, is 
assumed by the Developer.   
 



9 
 

SECTION 10 
 DEVELOPER’S INSURANCE 
 
SECTION 10.1 Insurance. The Developer shall not commence, or cause to be commenced, work 
under this Agreement until it has obtained all insurance required under this subsection, and such 
insurance has been approved by the City; nor shall the Developer allow any contractor or 
subcontractor to commence such Improvements until all such insurance required of the Developer has 
been so obtained and approved. 
 
SECTION 10.2 Worker’s Compensation Insurance.  The Developer shall take out and maintain 
during the life of this Agreement, Worker’s Compensation Insurance for all of its employees 
employed at the Site, and in case any work is sublet, the Developer shall require all contractors and 
subcontractors to similarly provide Worker’s Compensation Insurance for all of their employees, 
unless such employees are covered by the protection afforded by the Developer.  In case any class of 
employees at the Site are engaged in hazardous work under this Agreement, but are not protected 
under the Worker’s Compensation Statute, the Developer shall provide, and shall cause such 
contractor and subcontractor to provide, Employer’s Liability Insurance for the protection of any 
employees not otherwise protected. 
 
SECTION 10.3 Public Liability and Property Damage Insurance.  The Developer shall take out 
and maintain during the life of this Agreement such public liability and property damage insurance as 
shall protect the Developer and any contractor or subcontractor performing work covered by this 
Agreement from claims for damages for personal injury, including accidental death, as well as from 
claims for property damages, which may arise from operations under this Agreement, whether such 
operations be by itself or by any contractor or subcontractor, or by anyone directly or indirectly 
employed by any of them, and the amount of such insurance shall be as follows:  Public liability 
insurance in an amount not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) for injuries, including 
accidental death, to any one (1) person, and subject to the same limit for each person in an amount 
not less than Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000.00) on account of one (1) accident, and property 
damage insurance in an amount of not less than Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000.00). 
 
SECTION 10.4 Contractor Insurance.  The Developer shall require each and every contractor and 
subcontractor to obtain and maintain similar policies with the same limits stipulated above, including 
contractor’s contingent or protective insurance, if necessary to protect the Developer from damage 
claims arising from operations under this Agreement. 
 
SECTION 10.5 Insurance Covering Special Hazards.  The following special hazards shall be 
covered by rider or riders to the public liability and/or property damage insurance policy or policies 
herein before required to be furnished by the Developer, or by separate policies of insurance, in 
amounts not less than Three Hundred Thousand Dollars ($300,000.00) to cover injury to underground 
structures such as wires, conduits, pipes and sewers, and explosions of any kind, including blasting, 
and public liability insurance of Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($250,000.00)/Five Hundred 
Thousand Dollars ($500,000.00), with property damage not less than One Hundred Thousand Dollars 
($100,000.00) for each and every truck or other motor vehicle used in hauling materials to or from 
the Site. 
 
SECTION 10.6 Proof of Carriage of Insurance. Prior to commencement of work hereunder, the 
Developer shall furnish to, and obtain approval from the City Administrator, of certificates of 
insurance relating to all coverages required hereby and herein. 



10 
 

SECTION 10.7 Cancellation of Insurance. Each policy shall provide that it is noncancellable for a 
period of thirty (30) days following written notice of intention to cancel given by the insurance carrier 
via certified mail. 
 
SECTION 10.8 Endorsements. The Developer will secure a contractual endorsement covering the 
hold harmless and indemnity agreements contained in Section 11 hereof. 
 
SECTION 11 
 HOLD HARMLESS AND INDEMNITY AGREEMENT 
 
SECTION 11.1 Indemnity. The Developer agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the City, its agents 
and employees, from any and all claims of all persons, entities, or the like for damages of any kind 
relating to injury, death, or property damage arising directly or indirectly out of the work performed 
or to be performed under this Agreement, including extra work, by reason of negligent or wrongful 
conduct in whole or in part on the part of: 
 

a. The Developer, or any of its servants, employees, personnel, agents, 
representatives, contractors, or subcontractors, or the agents of said 
respective parties, or persons performing any work under this 
Agreement or in connection with any work performed under this 
Agreement. 

 
b. The City, or any of its officers, supervisors, officials, agents, servants, 

employees or personnel, or independent contractors (collectively, 
“Agents”) for which the City is responsible for any liability, except this 
provision shall not apply to negligent acts or omissions or wrongful 
conduct by the City or its Agents with respect to the design or 
inspection of the work performed by the City or any of its Agents, as 
provided in this Agreement.   

 
c. The Developer hereby warrants that all Improvements required herein 

will utilize good quality materials and workmanship.  The Developer 
further agrees to warrant all Public Improvements against all defects in 
material or workmanship for a period of one (1) year from the date of 
the acceptance of the public dedication thereof. 

 
SECTION 11.2 Defense.  The Developer agrees to assume the defense of any action filed to which 
this hold harmless agreement applies, and to pay all costs and attorney fees incurred in connection 
therewith, and to pay any final judgments entered in an action to which this hold harmless agreement 
and indemnification agreement applies. 
 
SECTION 11.3 Immunity Not Affect. This indemnity and hold harmless agreement shall be 
applicable regardless of any provision of immunity provided for by law. 
 
SECTION 11.4 Certificate of Insurance. The Developer further agrees that prior to commencement 
of the public or private Improvements under this Agreement, it will deposit with the City 
Administrator certificates of insurance relating to the foregoing, together with a contractual 
indemnity endorsement relating to this hold harmless agreement. 
 



11 
 

SECTION 12 
 MISCELLANEOUS 
 
SECTION 12.1 Complete Agreement, Amendment. There are no representations, covenants, 
warranties, promises, agreements, conditions, or undertakings, oral or written, between the City and 
the Developer, other than as set forth herein, which is to be read and interpreted in conjunction with 
this Agreement as to the subject matter hereof.  Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, no 
subsequent alteration, amendment, change, or addition to this Agreement shall be binding upon either 
party unless made in writing by the City Council and the Developer, and signed by them. 
 
SECTION 12.2 Conflicts with Codes and Ordinances of the City.  Whenever the terms or 
provisions of this Agreement or any exhibits hereto conflict with the terms and provisions of any 
codes or ordinances of the City, the terms and provisions of this Agreement shall prevail and control. 
 
SECTION 12.3 Cooperation with Permits, Easements.  The City shall cooperate with the 
Developer in the Developer’s endeavors to obtain required permits and approvals from all other 
governmental or quasi-governmental agencies or boards, whether federal, state, or local, with 
jurisdiction over any aspect or part of the Site, which support and assistance shall also extend to any 
public and private utility companies.  The City shall also cooperate with the Developer in obtaining 
all necessary easements and shall grant the Developer access to all City owned rights-of-way to 
enable the Developer’s provision of sanitary sewer, municipal water service, and electrical service to 
the Site, in accordance with the Plans.  City shall process any applications and shall issue such 
permits within the following time periods after application of such permits are made:  Building 
Permits – 10 days; Occupancy Permits – 10 days. 
  
SECTION 12.4 Assessment Pending Development.  If allowed by law, the Site shall be assessed as 
improved property in only those portions that have been actually improved and developed by the 
Developer.  The remainder of the Site not so improved or developed shall be assessed as it is actually 
used.  If the provisions of this subsection should conflict with any future change in present state law 
relating to appropriate methods of assessment, then the provisions of said changed state law shall 
prevail.   
 
SECTION 12.5  Severability.  In the event that any provision of this Agreement conflicts with 
applicable state or federal law, such conflict shall not affect the other provisions of this Agreement 
which can be given effect without the conflicting provision, and, to this end, the provisions of this 
Agreement are declared to be severable and the invalidity or partial invalidity or unenforceability of 
any one (1) provision or portion hereof shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining 
portions of said provision or any other provisions of this Agreement.   
 
SECTION 12.6 City Not Partner. The City does not, in any way or for any purpose, become a 
partner, employer, principal, agent, or joint venturer of or with the Developer.   
 
SECTION 12.7 Captions.  This Agreement shall be construed without reference to titles of any 
sections or subsections hereof, which are inserted only for convenience.   
 
SECTION 12.8 Binding Agreement, Assignment. This Agreement, and all of the terms, covenants, 
and conditions hereof and of the various instruments executed and delivered pursuant hereto, shall be 
binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors and assigns.  The 
Developer shall be permitted to assign any and all of its rights hereunder; provided, however, the City 



12 
 

shall be notified, in writing, of any such assignment within thirty (30) days before the effective date 
of such assignment, and such written notice shall include the name, address, and telephone number of 
the assignee; and, provided further, that such assignment shall not be effective unless and until the 
assignee satisfies the City that it may succeed to the surety bond as provided under this Agreement, in 
such manner and form acceptable to the City Attorney, or assignee provides a new surety bond 
acceptable to the City.   
 
SECTION 12.9 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed under the laws of the State of 
Wisconsin.   
 
SECTION 12.10 Counterpart Execution. This Agreement, and all other documents or instruments 
that may be required by this Agreement, may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall 
be deemed an original, but all of which shall constitute one (1) and the same instrument.  In addition, 
this Agreement may contain more than one (1) counterpart of the signature page, and this Agreement 
may be executed by the affixing of the signatures of each of the signers to one (1) of such counterpart 
signature pages; all of such counterpart signature pages shall be read as though one (1), and shall 
have the same force and effect as though all of the signers had signed a single signature page.   
 

(Signature page follows) 



13 
 

  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on the date 
first written above. 
 

CITY: 
 

CITY OF LAKE GENEVA, a Wisconsin municipal corporation 
 
 

By:  
 Thomas Hartz, Mayor 

 
 

Attest:  
 Lana Kropf, City Clerk 

 
 
 
 APPROVAL OF COMMON COUNCIL 
 
  This Agreement was approved by the Common Council of the City of Lake Geneva by 
Resolution dated the ____ day of July, 2018. 
 
 

    DEVELOPER: 
 

   1111 Edwards Blvd LLC, a Wisconsin limited   
   liability company 

 
                                    By:  

   Jason Konrad, a Member 
 

 
Drafted By: 
 
James P. Howe 
GODFREY, LEIBSLE, BLACKBOURN & 
  HOWARTH, S.C. 
354 Seymour Court 
Elkhorn, Wisconsin  53121 
Telephone: (262) 723-3220 
Facsimile: (262) 723-5091 
email: jhowe@godfreylaw.com 
 
 
  

mailto:jhowe@godfreylaw.com


14 
 

EXHIBIT A 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

 
 
Lot 3 and Lot 4 of Certified Survey Map No. 4680 recorded October 13, 2016 in Volume 31 of 
Certified Surveys on Page 28 as Document No. 934194, and being part of the Northwest 1/4 and the 
Northeast 1/4 of the Southwest 1/4 and Southeast 1/4 and Southwest 1/4 of the Northwest 1/4 all in 
Section 30, Township 2 North, Range 18 East, City of Lake Geneva, Walworth County, Wisconsin. 
 
Tax Key No. ZA468000003 and ZA468000004 
 
Address: Vacant Lots, 1111 North Edwards Boulevard 
 
 



15 
 

EXHIBIT B 
STORM WATER MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS 

 MAINTENANCE PLAN 
 
  See attached.  
 

  



16 
 

STORM WATER MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS 
MAINTENANCE PLAN 

 
The facility Operator and its successors and assigns shall be responsible to repair and maintain the storm water 
management systems located of the property in good condition and in working order and such that the systems 
operate in compliance with approved plans. The operator will conduct such maintenance or repair work in 
accordance with applicable laws, codes and regulations, as outlined below: 
 

 

Inlet Filter Insets All inlet Insets shall be inspected in early spring and late fall of each 
year. Any sediment and/or debris present shall be removed and 
disposed; such that the storm water facilities operate as designed and 
permitted. 

Drainage Structure Sumps 
and Sediment Traps 

Drainage structures equipped with sumps and other sediment trapping 
structures installed on site shall be inspected in early Spring of each 
year. These structures shall be cleaned when sediment reaches a level 
that is 6 inches below the lowest invert of the structure or sooner. 

Rip-Rap Rip-Rap channels and outlets shall be inspected at least once per year to 
monitor rip-rap positioning and stability. Any evidence of erosion shall 
be repaired as necessary. 

Detention Basin (General) The Detention Basin shall be inspected for debris accumulation at least 
once per year to prevent/correct flow obstructions. All debris found 
shall be removed and disposed appropriately. 

Detention Basin (Infiltration 
Area) 

The infiltration portion of the detention basing shall be inspected once 
per year and its performance monitored as necessary to ensure it is 
performing as designed. Unwanted vegetation shall be removed 
periodically and the upper 24” of soil scarified or replaced as necessary 
to ensured continued performance.  

Vegetation and Ground 
Cover 

All landscaped areas of the site shall be protected by grass, mulch or 
other permanent type of ground cover. Bare ground or eroded areas 
shall be repaired, seeded and mulched as necessary to ensure adequate 
ground cover. No trees shall be allowed to grow within the Detention 
Area basin. Any saplings observed shall be promptly removed. 

Inspection/Maintenance 
Logs 

The property operator shall keep record of all inspections and 
maintenance activities associated with storm water management 
facilities on site. These logs shall include dates, brief description of the 
observations made and a description of the actions taken, if any. These 
logs shall be kept on-site and available for review upon request. 



 1

STAFF REPORT 
To Lake Geneva Plan Commission 
Meeting Date:  September 17, 2018 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Description: 

1. Discussion Only Item:  
 
Applicant, House Around the Corner LLC, 3389 South Shore Dr. Delavan, WI, 53115, proposes 
to raze the existing building at 832 Geneva St and construct a new 5,154 square foot, 2-story, 
commercial building, located within the Central Business (CB) zoning district, Tax Key No. 
ZOP000252. 

 

Applicant: 
120 Properties  
P.O. Box 935 
Lake Geneva, WI 53147 

 

Agenda Item: 8 



















 1

STAFF REPORT 
To Lake Geneva Plan Commission 
Meeting Date:  September 17, 2018 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Description: 
Summary of September 5, 2018 Public Workshop on Comprehensive Plan Amendments, addressing the 
review for the approximate 12.24 acres and the proposed multi-family development to be located in the 
south west corner of the 38.53 acre parcel. 
 
The workshop was only for the request of the 12.24 acre multi-family area. 

Applicant: 
120 Properties  
P.O. Box 935 
Lake Geneva, WI 53147 

 

Agenda Item: 9 



Page 1 of 2 

Comprehensive Plan Amendment Comment Summary 
The City of Lake Geneva held a public workshop on September 5, 2018 to gather insights related to the proposed 
Comprehensive Plan amendment and the developer’s conceptual plan.  

There were 27 registered attendees of the Public Workshop. Participants were provided with numbered dots, 
which were used to identify areas on the developer’s conceptual plan where they had comments or suggestions. 
Two identical copies of the map were provided for comments on at the Workshop. The comments below 
correspond to the numbered dots on the maps. Additional, general  comments are located on the following page. 
 

Dot 
Number 

Comment 

7 Great concern over the intersection of Edwards and Townline Road. Traffic on Edwards has 
increased with Townline traffic having increased as a bypass to this traffic. 

8 We are told that there will be no road through to Joshua Lane. Rather an access to a bike path. The 
concern is that it will become a road because of large traffic volume out of the multi-family. 

9 The current cornfield is elevated above the homes on Joshua Lane. Two story apartment homes 
will tower above the single-family homes on Joshua Lane reducing privacy. Rendering assumes the 
trees separating the subdivision and multi-family would need to be redeveloped and drainage 
plans put in place. 

13 This intersection is already a mess! What will 400 more vehicles per day do to it? This is not a good 
idea. 

14 We have a lot of families in this subdivision with small children. Having an access through here will 
make it very dangerous. 

15 Concerned about drainage going down into the backyards of The Meadowlands Subdivision. We 
get flooded already! 

25 Are any trees going to be cut down behind out homes? 
26 Is the bike path behind our homes necessary? 
27 Will this road ever be open? 
28 Will lights be added here? 
29 15 units/90 apartments. Does there need to be this many and will there be more in the future? 
31 Traffic lights at Edwards and Townline? 
32 Is Andrea Drive going through? 
38 My shrub-line is low. You will be able to see right into my home and yard from the apartments. 
39 There should be a much larger buffer zone between the apartments and the homes on Joshua 

Lane. 
40 The drawings do not accurately depict the reality of the shrub-line. 
49 I’m worried about my home value in Townline Trails. We can’t keep those homes on the market so 

I’m unsure why this parcel wouldn’t remain for single-family. 
51 The intersection of Edwards and Townline is treacherous. A stoplight at the intersection is sorely 

needed. 
61 Stoplight needed. Increased truck traffic and car traffic. 
62 Bike path or road 

148 Extension of Andrea Lane across Joshua Lane will create a traffic hazard in what is currently a low 
traffic area. Adding 200 cars into the area puts the neighborhood children at a risk the families did 
not plan for when they moved into the area. 

169 Traffic flow 
171 Entrance – too close to Meadowlands lot line, 90 units/400 total parking spaces and ONE driveway 

as close as possible to the backyards of The Meadowlands. NOISE pollution and light pollution 
from buildings, windows and parking lots into backyards of Meadowland houses. 

173 Three bus stops on Townline Road 



Page 2 of 2 

175 Water issue – currently the farmland channels heavy rain directly into backyards and flash floods 
into the basement window wells.  
Property taxes – Just increased on my property by $30K, but my resale value will be negatively 
impacted by this development as it’s in my backyard. 
Visibility/hill – farmland is all elevated over Meadowlands and 37’ roofs, these buildings will tower 
over Meadowlands. 

193 Easement: We would like to know what the plan is for this easement/access? We worry about the 
influx of traffic from 90 apartments into single-family residential if it turns into a road. 

197 Intersection: With this influx of traffic, this would have to become a controlled intersection. 
201 Bus stop: Lots of kids here in morning and afternoon. Increase in traffic puts safety risk. 

 
Please share any additional comments: 

• A bike path in the ROW in Andrea Drive would bring more foot traffic into The Meadowlands Subdivision. 
There is then nowhere for those people to go. It provides a dark corridor for people who wish to do harm. I 
am strongly against a connection of any sorts (multi-use path, street, etc.) between The Meadowlands 
Subdivision and the proposed development. Please require the developer to conduct a traffic study! I 
strongly encourage the developer to move the multi-family acreage to the east (towards Edwards Blvd). I’m 
concerned about the drainage between the proposed development and existing homes along Joshua Lane. 
The height of the buildings is very inconsistent with the existing homes. If the development goes, please 
require full time on-site management – regardless of the number of units.  

• Need more of a buffer from lot line to house. Another 60-80’ from easement of bike path would be 
recommended and appropriate. 

• Six family units is not a transition.  
• Would tenants be able to sublease? 
• Great concern over property devaluation, especially to the residences directly adjacent to proposed units 

1-4. 
• My big concern is having a bike path that’s dark and provides an easy/quick access for people to come into 

our subdivision and possibly cause problems. My other big concern is drainage that will come down into 
The Meadowlands along Townline Road, which is already a swamp in our backyards. Too much traffic on 
Townline and Edwards Blvd. It’s very dangerous and it already needs stoplights! This will only make it 
worse. 

• The drainage by all the homes next to trees is poor already. More trucks on 120. Large lights coming? 
Number one concern is water in our subdivision! I am okay with single-family homes, but not multi-family. 
Worried about bus drop off for kids on Townline. 

• Multi-family development is going to put too much stress on the current infrastructure, i.e., the 
intersection of Townline Road and Edwards Blvd. Also, the blind spot created by the hill between Edwards 
Blvd and the proposed entrance creates a dangerous situation for traffic accidents. Too much of the traffic 
on Townline Road drives too quickly for proper left hand turns out of the proposed entrance. A multi-family 
development also collides with the single-family homes in the area. The transition from single-family to 
multi-family is too abrupt. There should be an area of resident-owner multi-family homes if the zoning is 
changed instead of simply rental residences.  






	1. 9 17 2018 Agenda - Amended
	3. 8 20 2018 Plan Commission Minutes
	6.a. 260 Broad St Downtown Design
	6.b. 503 Broad St Downtown Design
	7. 1111 N Edwards Blvd PIP
	8. 832 Geneva St Discussion Only
	9. Summary of September 5 2018 Public Workshop on Comprehensive Plan Amendments



